
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Advanced Meeting Package 

 Regular Meeting 

Monday 
October 27, 2025 

11:00 a.m. 

Location: 
Hilton Garden Inn 

55 Town Center Blvd., 
Palm Coast, FL 32164 

Note:  The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus all materials 
are considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board acceptance, approval or 
adoption. 



Radiance  
Community Development District 

250 International Parkway, Suite 208 
Lake Mary FL  32746 
321-263-0132  

Board of Supervisors  
Radiance Community Development District 

Dear Board Members: 

The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Radiance Community Development District 
is scheduled for Monday, October 27, 2025, at 11:00 a.m. at Hilton Garden Inn, 55 Town 
Center Blvd., Palm Coast, FL 32164. 

An advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated documentation 
for your review and consideration. Any additional support material will be presented at the meeting. 

Should you have any questions regarding the agenda, please contact me at (321) 263-0132 X-193 or 
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com . We look forward to seeing you at the meeting. 

Sincerely, 

David McInnes 
David McInnes 
District Manager 

mailto:dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com


Page 1 of 2 
 

 Community Development District 
Meeting Date: Monday, October 27, 2025 Call-in Number: +1 (929) 205-6099 
Time: 11:00AM Meeting ID: 705 571 4830# 
Location: Hilton Garden Inn 

55 Town Center Blvd., 
Palm Coast, FL 32164 

  

 

Revised Agenda 

I. Roll Call  
II. Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 

agenda items)   
 

III. Consent Agenda  
A. Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of 

Supervisors Regular Meeting Held on August 25, 2025 
Exhibit 1 

Pgs. 6-9 

B. Consideration for Acceptance – The September 2025 Unaudited 
Financial Statements 

Exhibit 2 
Pgs. 11-19 

C. Ratification of Southern Underground Industries, Inc. Change 
Orders 

Exhibit 3 
Pgs. 21-51 

1. CO #7  
2. CO #10  
3. CO #11  
4. CO #12  
5. CO #13  
6. CO #14  
7. CO #15  
8. CO #16  

D. Ratification of Hazen Construction, LLC Contract Addendum – 
Phase 1 Utility 

Exhibit 4 
Pgs. 53-102 

E. Ratification of Requisition Phase 1 Earthwork & Clearing Exhibit 5 
Pgs. 104-121 

F. Ratification of TLC Land Consulting, LLC Agreement Exhibit 6 
Pgs. 123-126 

G. Ratification of Hazen Construction, LLC Contract Addendum – 
Cresswind Phase 1 

Exhibit 7 
Pgs. 128-179 

H. Ratification of Bulow City & CDD First Amendment to 
Settlement Agreement 

Exhibit 8 
Pgs. 181-275 

I. Ratification of Amended Offsite Utility Easement Exhibit 9 
Pgs. 277-318 



Page 2 of 2 
 

IV. Business Matters  
A. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-01, Ratifying Sale 

of Bonds & Levy of Assessments, Series 2025 
Exhibit 10 

Pgs. 320-321 

B. Consideration of Termination of District Management Agreement  

C. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-02, Appointing 
District Manager 

Exhibit 11 
Pgs. 323-344  

D. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-03, Re-
Designating Officers 

Exhibit 12 
Pgs. 346-347  

E. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-04, Designating 
Authorized Signatories 

Exhibit 13 
Pg. 349  

F. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-05, Designating 
Administrative Office 

Exhibit 14 
Pg. 351  

G. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-06, Adopting 
Amended Meeting Schedule 

Exhibit 15 
Pgs. 353-354  

V. Staff Reports  
A. District Counsel  
B. District Engineer  
C. District Manager  

VI. Supervisors’ Requests  
VII. Audience Comments – New Business - (limited to 3 minutes per 

individual for non-agenda items) 
 

VIII. Adjournment  

 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 



MINUTES OF MEETING 1 

RADIANCE 2 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3 

 The Regular Meeting and Budget Public Hearing of the Board of Supervisors of the Radiance 4 
Community Development District was held on Monday, August 25, 2025 at 11:35 a.m., at the Hilton 5 
Garden Inn, 55 Town Center Blvd., Palm Coast, FL 32164. 6 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS – Roll Call 7 

Mr. McInnes called the meeting to order and conducted roll call. 8 

Present and constituting a quorum were:  9 

William Fife Board Supervisor, Chairman 10 
Haley Kiernan Board Supervisor, Vice Chairman 11 
Charles Faulkner (via phone;  Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 12 
joined in progress)  13 
Timothy Smith  Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 14 

Also, present were: 15 

David McInnes District Manager, Vesta District Services 16 
Jere Earlywine (via phone) District Counsel, Kutak Rock 17 

The following is a summary of the discussions and actions taken at the August 25, 2025 Radiance CDD 18 
Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting and Budget Public Hearing. Audio for this meeting is available upon 19 
public records request by emailing PublicRecords@vestapropertyservices.com.    20 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 21 
agenda items) 22 

There being none, the next item followed. 23 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS – Exhibit 1: Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) 24 

The regular meeting was recessed at approximately 11:36 a.m. for the purpose of holding the FY 25 
2026 budget public hearing. 26 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Public Hearings 27 

A. FY 2025-2026 Budget Public Hearing 28 

1. Open the Public Hearing 29 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Ms. Kiernan, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board opened the 30 
FY 2025-2026 Budget Public Hearing at 11:36 a.m., for the Radiance Community Development District. 31 

2. Exhibit 2: Presentation of FY 2025-2026 Budget 32 

Supervisor Faulkner joined via phone at approximately 11:36 a.m. 33 

3. Public Comments 34 

There being none, the next item followed. 35 

 36 

 37 

 38 

mailto:PublicRecords@vestapropertyservices.com


Radiance CDD  August 25, 2025 
Regular Meeting and Budget Public Hearing  Page 2 of 4 

4. Close the Public Hearing 39 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board closed opened 40 
the FY 2025-2026 Budget Public Hearing at 11:38 a.m., for the Radiance Community Development 41 
District. 42 

The regular meeting was reconvened at this time. 43 

5. Exhibit 3: Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2025-08, Adopting FY 2025-2026 Budget 44 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adopted 45 
Resolution2025-08, Adopting FY 2025-2026 Budget, for the Radiance Community Development District. 46 

6. Exhibit 4: Consideration of FY 2025-2026 Deficit Funding Agreement 47 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved the 48 
FY 2025-2026 Deficit Funding Agreement, for the Radiance Community Development District. 49 

The regular meeting was recessed at approximately 11:39 a.m. for the purpose of holding the FY 50 
2025-2026 O&M Assessments Public Hearing. 51 

B. FY 2025-2026 O&M Assessments Public Hearing 52 

1. Open the Public Hearing 53 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Ms. Kiernan, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board opened the 54 
FY 2025-2026 O&M Assessments Public Hearing at 11:39 a.m., for the Radiance Community 55 
Development District. 56 

2. Public Comments 57 

There being none, the next item followed. 58 

3. Close the Public Hearing 59 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Ms. Kiernan, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board closed the 60 
FY 2025-2026 O&M Assessments Public Hearing at 11:40 a.m., for the Radiance Community 61 
Development District. 62 

The regular meeting was reconvened at this time. 63 

4. Exhibit 5: Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2025-09, Levying Assessments 64 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adopted 65 
Resolution 2025-09, Levying Assessments, for the Radiance Community Development District. 66 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Consent Agenda 67 

A. Exhibit 6: Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting 68 
Held on April 28, 2025 69 

B. Exhibit 7: Consideration for Acceptance – The May 2025 Unaudited Financial Statements 70 

C. Exhibit 8: Consideration for Acceptance – The June 2025 Unaudited Financial Statements 71 

D. Exhibit 9: Consideration for Acceptance – The July 2025 Unaudited Financial Statements 72 

 73 



Radiance CDD  August 25, 2025 
Regular Meeting and Budget Public Hearing  Page 3 of 4 

E. Ratification of Change Orders 74 

1. Exhibit 10: Change Order #4 – Southern Unground Industries, Inc. 75 

2. Exhibit 11: Change Order #5 – Southern Unground Industries, Inc. 76 

3. Exhibit 12: Change Order #6 – Southern Unground Industries, Inc. 77 

F. Exhibit 13: Ratification of Settlement Agreement & General Release 78 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved the 79 
Consent agenda as presented, for the Radiance Community Development District. 80 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Business Matters  81 

A. Exhibit 14: Presentation & Consideration of FY 2024 Audited Annual Financial Report 82 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board accepted the 83 
FY 2024 Audited Annual Financial Report, for the Radiance Community Development District. 84 

B. Exhibit 15: Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2025-10, Approving FY 2025-2026 Meeting 85 
Schedule 86 

On a MOTION by Mr. Smith, SECONDED by Mr. Fife, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adopted 87 
Resolution 2025-10, Approving FY 2025-2026 Meeting Schedule, as amended, moving the 05/25/2026 88 
meeting to 05/27/2026, for the Radiance Community Development District. 89 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Staff Reports 90 

A. District Counsel 91 

Mr. Earlywine provided an update on the upcoming bond closing. 92 

B. District Engineer 93 

The District Engineer was not present. 94 

C. District Manager  95 

1. Exhibit 16: Consideration of FY 2026 Performance Standards & Measures 96 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved the 97 
FY 2026 Performance Standards & Measures, for the Radiance Community Development District. 98 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Supervisors’ Requests 99 

 Mr. Fife suggested that they send a $10,000.00 funding request to the developer. 100 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – New Business/Non-Agenda (limited to 3 101 
minutes per individual)  102 

There being none, the next item followed. 103 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Adjournment 104 

Mr. McInnes asked for final questions, comments, or corrections before requesting a motion to 105 
adjourn the meeting. There being none, Mr. Fife made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 106 

On a MOTION by Mr. Fife, SECONDED by Mr. Smith, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adjourned the 107 
meeting at 11:46 a.m. for the Radiance Community Development District. 108 



Radiance CDD  August 25, 2025 
Regular Meeting and Budget Public Hearing  Page 4 of 4 

*Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered 109 
at the meeting is advised that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 110 
including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 111 

Meeting minutes were approved at a meeting by vote of the Board of Supervisors at a publicly noticed 112 
meeting held on October 27, 2025. 113 

 114 

 115 

 116 

 117 
Signature  Signature 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

Title: □ Secretary □ Assistant Secretary  Title: □ Chairman □ Vice Chairman 118 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 



Radiance
Community Development District

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Period Ending
September 30, 2025



General 2025 Debt 2025 Capital Projects
Fund Service Acq & Const Fund Total

Assets:
   Cash 361$                      -$                            -$                            880,419$               880,781$                         
   Investments:
        Revenue Fund - DS 2025 -                              -                              -                                         
        Reserve Fund - DS 2025 1,290,100             -                              1,290,100                        
        Capital Interest Fund - DS 2025 691,291                -                              691,291                           
        Interest Fund - DS 2025 -                              -                              -                                         
        Principal Fund - DS 2025 -                              -                              -                                         
        Sinking Fund - DS 2025 -                              -                              -                                         
        Prepayment Fund - DS 2025 -                              -                              -                                         
        Cost of Issuance Fund - DS 2025 5,400                     -                              5,400                                
        Acquisition & Construction Fund -  2025 -                              14,702,083           14,702,083                     
   Accounts Receivable 18,066                   -                              -                              1,023,188              1,041,254                        
   Due to Developer -                              -                              -                              19,330                   19,330                             
   Deposits -                              -                              -                              -                               -                                         
   Prepaid Items -                              -                              -                              -                               -                                         
Total Assets 18,427                   1,986,791             14,702,083           1,922,938              18,630,239                     

Liabilities:
   Accounts Payable 8,568                     -                              -                              3,648,720              3,657,288                        

Fund Balance:
   Nonspendable: -                                         
          Deposits & Prepaids -                              -                              -                              -                               -                                         
   Restricted for: -                                         
          Debt Service -                              1,986,791             -                              -                               1,986,791                        
          Capital Projects -                              14,702,083           (1,725,782)            12,976,301                     
   Unassigned 9,859                     -                              -                              -                               9,859                                

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 18,427$                1,986,791$           14,702,083$        1,922,938$           18,630,239$                   

Radiance CDD
Balance Sheet

September 30, 2025



FY2025
Adopted Current Actual Variance % of
Budget Month Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution 179,155$    16,924$     43,937$             (135,218)$    24.52%
Total Revenue 179,155      16,924       43,937               (135,218)      24.52%

Expenditures

Professional & Administrative
     Supervisor Fees 2,400           200             800                     (1,600)           33.33%
     District Management* 20,000        1,000          12,000               (8,000)           60.00%
     Administrative Services * 12,750        -                   -                          (12,750)        0.00%
     Accounting Services* 12,750        -                   -                          (12,750)        0.00%
     Assessment Administration* 2,500           -                   -                          (2,500)           0.00%
     Dissemination Agent 2,000           -                   -                          (2,000)           0.00%
     Legal 25,000        -                   9,101                 (15,899)        36.40%
     Engineering 30,000        -                   4,751                 (25,249)        15.84%
     Postage 500              -                   -                          (500)              0.00%
     Printing & Binding 500              -                   -                          (500)              0.00%
     Legal Advertising 10,000        73               340                     (9,660)           3.40%
     Annual Special District Fee 175              -                   175                     -                     100.00%
     General Liability & Pol Insurance 7,000           -                   5,408                 (1,592)           77.26%
     Bank Fees 500              -                   -                          (500)              0.00%
     Websit Hosting, ADA, Maintenance 1,580           132             1,580                 (0)                   99.99%
     Contingency 1,500           316             770                     (730)              51.31%
  Total Professional & Administrative 129,155      1,720         34,925               (94,230)        27.04%

  Physical Environment
     Field Contingency 50,000        -                   -                          (50,000)        0.00%
  Total Physical Environment 50,000        -                  -                          (200,860)      0.00%

Total Expenditures 179,155      1,720         34,925               

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                    15,204       9,012                 

Fund Balance - Beginning 847                     

Fund Balance - Ending 9,859$               

Radiance CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures as Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



FY2025
Adopted Actual Variance % of
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Assessments - Off Roll -$               -$                       -$                   0.00%
     Lot Closing -                 -                         -                     0.00%
     Interest -                 -                         -                     0.00%
Total Revenue -                 -                         -                     0.00%

Expenditures

    DS - Legal Services -                 500,500            500,500        0.00%
    DS - Trustee Fees -                         0.00%
    DS - Printing & Binding -                 1,750                 1,750            0.00%
    DS - Dissemination Services -                 3,500                 3,500            0.00%
    DS - Assessment Services 25,000               25,000          0.00%
     Interest Payments 0.00%
          May 1, 2025 -                 -                         -                     0.00%
          November 1, 2024 -                 -                         -                     0.00%
     Principal Retirement 0.00%
          May 1, 2024 -                 -                         -                     0.00%
     Pre-Payment -                 -                         -                     0.00%
Total Expenditures -                 530,750            530,750        0.00%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                 (530,750)           (530,750)      

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Bond Proceeds 2,517,541         
       Transfer In -                         
       Transfer Out -                         
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 2,517,541         

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,986,791         

Fund Balance - Beginning -                         

Fund Balance - Ending 1,986,791$       

Radiance CDD
Debt Service - Series 2025 Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures as Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



FY2025
Adopted Actual Variance % of
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Bond Proceeds -$                14,702,083$    14,702,083$  0.00%
Total Revenue -             14,702,083       14,702,083    0.00%

Expenditures

Construction in Progress -                  -                         -                       0.00%

Total Expenditures -                  -                         14,702,083    0.00%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures 14,702,083       

Fund Balance - Beginning -                         

Fund Balance - Ending 14,702,083$    

Radiance CDD
2025 Acquisition & Construction Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures as Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



FY2025
Adopted Actual Variance % of
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution -$                9,220,369$       9,220,369$     0.00%
Total Revenue -              9,220,369         9,220,369       0.00%

Expenditures

Construction in Progress -                  10,965,688       10,965,688     0.00%

Total Expenditures -                  10,965,688       9,220,369       0.00%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures (1,745,319)        

Fund Balance - Beginning 19,537               

Fund Balance - Ending (1,725,782)$      

Radiance CDD
Capital Projects Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures as Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



Balance per Bank Statement 880,912.26$               

Plus: Outstanding Deposits -                                

Minus:  Construction Cash 880,419.47                 

Minus: Outstanding Checks 131.66                         

Adjusted Bank Balance 361.13$                       

Beginning Bank Balance per Books 361.13$                       

Cash Receipts 5,902.68                      

Cash Disbursements 5,902.68                      

Balance per Books 361.13$                       

Radiance CDD
Bank Reconciliation
September 30, 2025



Date Number Name Memo Debit Credit Balance
9/30/2023 Balance Forward 1,096.50      

10/31/2024 -                -                1,096.50
11/25/2024 00027713 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 2,045.76 3,142.26

11/25/2024 1571 Charles Faulkner 10/28/24 BOS Mtg 200.00 2,942.26

11/25/2024 1572 FLORIDA DEPT OF ECONOMIC OPPO2024/2025 Annual district filing fee 175.00 2,767.26

11/25/2024 1573 Kutak Rock LLP Legal Services 539.10 2,228.16

11/25/2024 1574 Vesta District Services District Management Services October 2024 1,000.00 1,228.16

11/25/2024 1575 VGlobal Tech Website Maintenance October 131.66 1,096.50

11/30/2024 2,045.76      2,045.76      1,096.50
12/06/2024 1576 Kutak Rock LLP Legal Services 916.00 180.50

12/23/2024 00029299 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 916.00 1,096.50

12/31/2024 916.00         916.00         1,096.50      
01/14/2025 1577 EGIS Insurance Advisors FY 2025 Gen Liability  Insurance 5,408.00 -4,311.50

01/16/2025 00030588 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 14,435.52 10,124.02

01/16/2025 1578 Kutak Rock LLP 2,992.41 7,131.61

01/16/2025 1579 VGlobal Tech 394.98 6,736.63

01/16/2025 1580 Kimley Horn Engineering Services 1,984.79 4,751.84

01/16/2025 1581 Vesta District Services 3,655.25 1,096.59

1/31/2025 14,435.52    14,435.43    1,096.59      

2/28/2025 -                -                1,096.59      
04/01/2025 4310-00000018 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 2,472.13 3,568.71

04/01/2025 00033365 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 4,440.28 8,008.99

04/01/2025 1583 Dibartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes  Services Rendered for Audited Financial Statements for Year Ended Septem  2,950.00 5,058.99

04/01/2025 1584 Kimley Horn Engineering Services Jan 2025 627.60 4,431.39

04/01/2025 1585 Kutak Rock LLP 789.82 3,641.57

04/01/2025 1586 Vesta District Services 2,029.13 1,612.44

Radiance CDD
Check Register

FY 2025



04/01/2025 1587 VGlobal Tech 263.32 1,349.13

4/30/2025 6,912.41      6,659.87      1,349.13      
05/06/2025 Deposit 263.32 1,612.45

05/13/2025 051325Wire2 Kutak Rock LLP Legal Services - Project  Construction Jan 2025 749.50 862.95

5/31/2025 263.32         749.50         862.95         
06/06/2025 4310-00000040 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 724.67 1,587.62

06/06/2025 1592 Kutak Rock LLP Legal Services - Feb 2025 488.50 1,099.12

06/06/2025 1593 Vesta District Services 104.51 994.61

06/06/2025 1594 VGlobal Tech 394.98 599.63

6/30/2025 724.67         987.99         599.63         
07/11/2025 4310-00000056 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 1,944.16 2,543.79

07/15/2025 1595 Charles Faulkner 4/28/25 BOS Mtg 200.00 2,343.79

07/15/2025 1596 Kutak Rock LLP Project Construction March 2025 612.50 1,731.29

07/15/2025 1597 Vesta District Services District Management Services May 2025 1,000.00 731.29

07/15/2025 1598 VGlobal Tech Website Maintenance May 2025 131.66 599.63

7/31/2025 1,944.16      1,944.16      599.63         
08/08/2025 4310-00000063 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 3,454.02 4,053.65

08/08/2025 1599 Charles Faulkner 02/24/25 BOS Mtg 200.00 3,853.65

08/08/2025 1600 Kutak Rock LLP 1,910.45 1,943.20

08/08/2025 1601 Vesta District Services 1,080.25 862.95

08/08/2025 1602 VGlobal Tech 263.32 599.63

08/12/2025 081225Wire4 Kutak Rock LLP Project Construction April 2025 238.50 361.13

8/31/2025 3,454.02      3,692.52      361.13         
09/08/2025 4310-00000078 Kolter Group Acquisitions LLC 5,902.68 6,263.81

09/16/2025 1603 Dibartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes  Services Rendered for Audited Financial Statements for Year Ended Septem  3,900.00 2,363.81

09/16/2025 1604 Kimley Horn Engineering Services 1,171.52 1,192.29

09/16/2025 1605 Kutak Rock LLP Legal Services - May 2025 699.50 492.79

09/16/2025 1606 VGlobal Tech Website Maintenance July 2025 131.66 361.13

9/30/2025 5,902.68      5,902.68      361.13         



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 



Radiance Project Offsite Utilities, OKR South Extension

CO# Rev Contract days + Final Description
7 Aug 7,2025 Increase 521,194.50$       6,525,592.68$       27 1/12/2026 additional bore service (Bullow)
8 voided
9 voided

10 Aug 7,2025 Inrease 576,547.35$       7,102,140.03$       8 1/20/2026 open cut to directional drill at landfill (OKR ROW)
11 Aug 7,2025 Increase 5,077,061.73$   12,179,201.76$    160 6/29/2026 reclaimed/reuse portion of project
12 Aug 7,2025 Decrease (1,507,635.93)$ 10,671,565.83$    0 6/29/2026 reuse material cost deduct
13 Aug 7,2025 Decrease (245,710.24)$     10,425,855.59$    0 6/29/2026 deduct HDD material ODP
14 Aug 7,2025 n/a -$                         10,425,855.59$    21 7/20/2026 standby time for easement solution
15 Aug 7,2025 Increase 83,117.76$          10,508,973.35$    2 7/22/2026 extendRCWM and FM, J&Bs (SR100, 30")
16 Aug 7,2025 Decreae (129,897.00)$     10,379,076.35$    0 7/22/2026 HDD instead of J&B on OKR



CHANGE ORDER NO.   7   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  additional bore and service for Bulow 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

($2,451,396.82)   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 12/12/2025 

 $6,004,398.18   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: + 27 days 

 $521,194.50   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 1/12/2026 

 $6,525,592.68   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025











Michael Griffin / Manager

July 2nd, 2025



CHANGE ORDER NO.   10   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  open cut to directional drill at landfill 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

($1,930,202.32)   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 1/12/2026 

 $6,525,592.68   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: + 15 days 

 $576,547.35   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 1/20/2026 

 $7,102,140.03   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 

8

Utility Engineer 8/29/2025

ABlake
Line

ABlake
Line





Michael Griffin / Manager

July 2nd, 2025



CHANGE ORDER NO.   11   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  Reclaim portion of the entire project 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

($1,353,654.97)   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 1/20/2026 

 $7,102,140.03   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: + 160 days 

 $5,077,061.73   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 6/29/2026 

 $12,179,201.76   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025









Michael Griffin / Manager

July 2nd, 2025



CHANGE ORDER NO.   12   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  deductive for reuse materials 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

$3,723,406.76   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 6/29/2026 

 $12,179,201.76   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  

 ($1,507,635.93)   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 6/29/2026 

 $10,671,565.83   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025





Michael Griffin / Manager

July 3rd, 2025



BIDCNEW

QUOTE DATEQUOTE NO PAGE

CUSTOMER PROJECT INFORMATION

QTY DESCRIPTIONUOM UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

CUSTOMER NO QUOTING BRANCH

ALL STOCK DELIVERIES ARE SUBJECT TO SHIPPING CHARGES
All PVC and HDPE material is quoted for shipment within 7 days of quote/bid date.  All other material is quoted for shipment within 30 days of quote/bid date.

After 7 days for PVC and HDPE or 30 days for all other material, ALL quoted prices are subject to review based on current market conditions.

LINE

QUOTE

7/03/256681148

RADIANCE CDD
250 INTERNATIONAL PKWY STE 208
LAKE MARY, FL  32746

236195

16" C900 DR18 PIPE PURPLE
16" BELL REST C900/DI PV-LOK
10AWG CC WIRE PURPLE 500' ROLL
3X1000 RECLAIM NON-DET TAPE

16" MJ SLEEVE
16" MJ LONG SLEEVE        C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16" MJ CROSS
16" MJ CROSS              C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16000
570

16000
16

1
1
2
2

4
4

16
16

******************************
IF, AFTER THE DATE OF THIS
QUOTE, ANY NEW OR INCREASED
TARIFFS, DUTIES OR OTHER
GOVERNMENT-IMPOSED COSTS ON
MATERIALS USED IN THE WORK
BECOMES EFFECTIVE, THE
CONTRACT PRICE SHALL BE
ADJUSTED TO REFLECT THE
ACTUAL INCREASED COST TO
FORTILINE.  FORTILINE SHALL
PROMPTLY NOTIFY THE CUSTOMER
OF ANY SUCH COST IMPACT.
FAILURE OF FORTILINE AND THE
CUSTOMER TO AGREE ON ANY
PRICE ADJUSTMENT SHALL NOT
RELIEVE THE CUSTOMER'S
OBLIGATION TO PAY THE
INCREASED COST.
******************************

ENGINEER: KIMLEY HORN
PLAN DATE: 3/29/24
REVISED BID FORM

BID ALT #2 / RECLAIMED WATER

BID ITEM 79 / 16" PIPE & FTGS

Package Sub-total:

100
110
120
130

150
160
170
180

200
210
220
230

FT
EA
FT
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

44.6000
517.0000

.2900
17.0000

655.0000
257.0000
70.0000

2,578.0000
257.0000
70.0000

713,600.00
294,690.00

4,640.00
272.00

655.00
514.00
140.00

10,312.00
4,112.00
1,120.00

1

RADIANCE OFF-SITE UTILITIES RUSE

FORTILINE ST AUGUSTINE

1,309.00        1,309.00



BIDCNEW

QUOTE DATEQUOTE NO PAGE

QTY DESCRIPTIONUOM UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

CUSTOMER NO JOB NAME

ALL STOCK DELIVERIES ARE SUBJECT TO SHIPPING CHARGES
All PVC and HDPE material is quoted for shipment within 7 days of quote/bid date.  All other material is quoted for shipment within 30 days of quote/bid date.

After 7 days for PVC and HDPE or 30 days for all other material, ALL quoted prices are subject to review based on current market conditions.

LINE

16" MJ TEE
16" MJ TEE                C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16" MJ 90
16" MJ 90                 C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16" MJ 45
16" MJ 45                 C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16" MJ 22-1/2
16" MJ 22-1/2             C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16" MJ 11-1/4
16" MJ 11-1/4             C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

18"X16" MJ REDUCER
18"X16" MJ REDUCER        C153
18" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE18
18" MJ REG ACC LESS GLAND
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

16"X2" MJ CAP
16"X2" MJ TAPT CAP        C153
16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND

5
5

15
15

10
10
20
20

12
12
24
24

8
8

16
16

19
19
38
38

2
2
2
2
2
2

11
11
11
11

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

250
260
270
280

300
310
320
330

350
360
370
380

400
410
420
430

450
460
470
480

500
510
520
530
540
550

570
580
590
600

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

1,425.0000
257.0000
70.0000

1,017.0000
257.0000
70.0000

727.0000
257.0000
70.0000

698.0000
257.0000
70.0000

738.0000
257.0000
70.0000

787.0000
377.0000
72.0000

257.0000
70.0000

421.0000
257.0000
70.0000

7,125.00
3,855.00
1,050.00

10,170.00
5,140.00
1,400.00

8,724.00
6,168.00
1,680.00

5,584.00
4,112.00
1,120.00

14,022.00
9,766.00
2,660.00

1,574.00
754.00
144.00
514.00
140.00

4,631.00
2,827.00

770.00

236195 RADIANCE OFF-SITE UTILITIES RUSE 6681148 27/03/25

3,886.00       15,544.00

2,406.00       12,030.00

1,671.00       16,710.00

1,381.00       16,572.00

1,352.00       10,816.00

1,392.00       26,448.00

1,563.00        3,126.00

748.00        8,228.00



BIDCNEW

QUOTE DATEQUOTE NO PAGE

QTY DESCRIPTIONUOM UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

CUSTOMER NO JOB NAME

ALL STOCK DELIVERIES ARE SUBJECT TO SHIPPING CHARGES

LINE

All PVC and HDPE material is quoted for shipment within 7 days of quote/bid date. All other material is quoted for shipment within 30 days of quote/bid date.
After 7 days for PVC and HDPE or 30 days for all other material, ALL quoted prices are subject to review based on current market conditions.

16" MJ GATE VALVE
16" MJ GV OL A2361-23 W/BEVEL

16" ONE-LOK MJ REST PVC SLCE16
16" MJ REGULAR ACC LESS GLAND
VLV BOX SQ HEAD W/RECLAIM LID
3" BRASS VLV MARKER 12" RE-USE
VLV BOX CENTER DEVICE BOXLOK-4

2" AIR RELASE VLV
16X2IP CS22 SS SDL 16.20-17.50
2"X6" SS NIPPLE            316
2" THD SS BALL VLV 316SS

2" AUTO ARV REUSE W/ 1WAY CHK
CDR B16-3048-36A BOX&LID

41
41

82
82
41
41
41

13
13
13
13

13
13

GEAR L/ACC

2 PC FULL PORT

BID ITEM 86 / 16" GATE VLV

BID ITEM 87 / 2" ARV

TOTAL FOR ALT / RECLAIM

640
650

660
670
680
690
700

730
740
750
760

770
780

EA

EA
EA
EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA

EA
EA

6,851.7300

257.0000
70.0000

102.0000
17.0000
35.0000

210.0000
44.0000

110.0000

1,030.0000
3,960.0000

280,920.93

21,074.00
5,740.00
4,182.00

697.00
1,435.00

2,730.00
572.00

1,430.00

13,390.00
51,480.00

Subtotal:
Tax:

Bid Total:

1,507,635.93
.00

1,507,635.93

236195 RADIANCE OFF-SITE UTILITIES RUSE 6681148 37/03/25

Ent By  DB3    7/03/25   8:12:23

Package Sub-total:

Package Sub-total:

Section Sub-total:

7,659.73      314,048.93

5,354.00       69,602.00

1,507,635.93



CHANGE ORDER NO.   13   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  ISCO DPO  directional bore 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

$2,215,770.83   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 6/29/2026 

 $10,671,565.83   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  

 ($245,710.24)   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 6/29/2026 

 $10,425,855.59   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025





Michael Griffin / Manager

July 3rd, 2025





CHANGE ORDER NO.   14   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  contract time extension due to easement issue 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

$1,970,060.59   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 6/29/2026 

 $10,425,855.59   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: + 21 days 

 $0   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 7/20/2026 

 $10,425,855.59   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025



Michael Griffin / Manager

July 3rd, 2025



CHANGE ORDER NO.   15   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  extended reclaim and force main jack and bores 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

$1,970,060.59   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 7/20/2026 

 $10,425,855.59   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: + 2 days 

 $83,117.76   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 7/22/2026 

 $10,508,973.35   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025



Michael Griffin / Manager

July 3rd, 2025



CHANGE ORDER NO.   16   
 
Date of Issuance:   August 7, 2025 Effective Date:  
    
Project:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Line District:  Radiance Community 

Development District 
District's Contract No.: 

Contract:     Radiance  Offsite Utility Project 
    

Date of Contract:  March 24, 2023 
Assigned to District on December 1, 
2023 
 

Contractor: Southern Underground Industries, Inc.  

  

The foregoing agreement is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order:  

Description:  replace reclaim and force main jack and bores 

Attachments:  See attached Exhibit A 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:  CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:   
Original Contract Price:  Original Contract 

Times: 
Original Contract 
Price: 

 

 $8,455,795.00   

    

        
Increase/Decrease from prior Change Orders:   Increase/Decrease from previously approved Change Orders 

No.____________ to No.____________: 

$2,053,178.35   Substantial completion (days):   

  Ready for final payment (days):   

        
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:  Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 7/22/2026 

 $10,508,973.35   

    

        
Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:  

 ($129,897.00)   

    

        
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:  Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 7/22/2026 

 $10,379,076.35   

     

        

RECOMMENDED BY: 
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIAITES 
INC., DISTRICT ENGINEER  

 ACCEPTED: 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  

 ACCEPTED: 
SOUTHERN UNDERGROUND 
INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 

 

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By:  _________________________________ 

  

By: _________________________________  

 

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

  

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date:________________________________

__  

  

Date: ________________________________  

  

Date: _______________________________  

 
ACCEPTED BY: THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA ___________________________ Title: _____________ Date: __________ 

 
Utility Engineer 8/29/2025



Michael Griffin / Manager

July 3rd, 2025



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 4 







































































































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 5 







 
 

 
 
 
 

WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS 
 
 
 

WELLS FARGO BANK N.A. 
420 Montgomery 

San Francisco, CA 94104 
 
 

ABA #121000248 
 

FOR CREDIT TO: 
RLS-KL RADIANCE LLC 

 
 

ACCOUNT #4565552718 
 
 
 

**IMPORTANT** 
 

Must call 561-682-9500 ext. 227 
To verify instructions before sending a wire.  

 

 





1st October



Invoice
Date

5/22/2025

Invoice #

104634-RFP1

Bill To

RLS-KL Radiance, LLC (Kolter Land)
Attn:  Haley Kiernan

Smith Trucking Company, Inc.

51 Ellis Street
Suite 101
St. Augustine, FL 32095

P.O. No. Terms

Net 30

Project

25011 Radiance PH1

Total

Balance Due

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Payments/Credits

Description Qty Rate Amount

Mobilization 0.25 12,500.00 3,125.00
Surveying 0.1 58,000.00 5,800.00
NPDES 0.2 12,500.00 2,500.00
Clearing 21 2,500.00 52,500.00
DITCH REVISION
SUBTOTAL 63,925.00
Retainage Held -10.00% -6,392.50

$57,532.50

$57,532.50

$57,532.50

$0.00

$0.00

Cory.Sitler
Text Box
TOTAL PRIVATE WORK - $15,750.00 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)
TOTAL PUBLIC WORK - $48,175.00 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)



APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT

TO: RLS-KL Radiance LLC PROJECT:  25011 - Radiance Phase 1               APPLICATION NO: 1 DISTRIBUTION TO:
14025 Riveredge Drive, Suite 175               PERIOD TO: 05/25/25 OWNER
Tampa, FL 33637 STC PROJECT NO: 25011 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE

  CONTRACT DATE: 03/10/25 ARCHITECT/DESIGNER
FROM: Smith Trucking Company, Inc. CONTRACTOR

51 Ellis Street, Suite 101 X DEVELOPER
St. Augustine, Florida 32095

CONTRACT FOR:

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT
Application is made for payment, as shown below, in connection with the 
Contract Continuation Sheet, is attached.

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT SUM 1,640,486.11$    

2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS & EXTRAS -$  

3. CONTRACT SUM TO DATE (Line 1+2) 1,640,486.11$    

4. TOTAL COMPLETED & STORED TO DATE 63,925.00$           
(Column  G on G703)

5. RETAINAGE:
a. 10 % of Completed Work

The undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best of the Contractor's knowledge,
information and belief the Work covered by this Application for Payment has been completed
in accordance with the Contract Documents, that all amounts have been paid by the
Contractor for Work for which previous Certificates for Payment were issued and payments 
received from the Owner, and that current payment shown herein is now due.

CONTRACTOR:  SMITH TRUCKING COMPANY, INC.

By:_______________________________________________________     Date_________________

b. 10 % of Stored Material
Total in Column I of G703 6,392.50$              

6. TOTAL EARNED LESS RETAINAGE 57,532.50$           
(Line 4 less Line 5 Total)

7. LESS PREVIOUS CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT -$  
(Line 6 from prior Certificate)

8. CURRENT PAYMENT DUE 57,532.50$           

OWNER REPRESENTATIVE/CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT
In accordance with the Contract Documents, based on on-site observations and
the data comprising this application, the Owner Representative/Contractor certifies 
to the Owner to the best of the Owner's Representative/Contractor's knowledge, 
information and belief the Work has progressed as indicated, the quality of the Work is 
in accordance with the Contract Documents, and the Contractor is entitled to payment of 
the AMOUNT CERTIFIED.

9. BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUDING RETAINAGE 1,582,953.61$    
(Line 3 less Line 6) AMOUNT CERTIFIED...................................... 57,532.50$                   

OWNER REPRESENTATIVE/CONTRACTOR

CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY By:__________________________________________  Date:_________________
Total changes approved in
previous months by Owner -$  This Certificate is not negotiable.  The AMOUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to

-$  the Contractor named herein.  Issuance, payment and acceptance of payment
are without prejudice to any rights of the Owner or Contractor under this

NET CHANGES by Change Order -$  Contract.

Total approved this month

05.22.2025



CONTINUATION SHEET                   PAGE    2   OF   2  PAGES

APPLICATION NO: 1 5/25/2025

APPLICATION DATE: 05/25/25   Radiance Phase 1

25011

A B C E F G H I J K L I J
QUANTITIES DOLLAR AMOUNT BALANCE

ITEM COST STORED COMPLETED % TO RETAINAGE

QTY TOTAL ($) NO. CODE UNIT UNIT PREVIOUS THIS TOTAL PREVIOUS COMPLETED MATERIAL and STORED (K/B) FINISH

(A x E) PRICE APPLICATIONS PERIOD TO DATE APPLICATIONS THIS PERIOD THIS PERIOD TO DATE (B-K)

(F+G) (F x E) (G x E) (I+J+K)

1.00                12,500.00$         10 LS 12,500.00$      0.00 0.25 0.25 -$                           3,125.00$                -$                            3,125.00$              25% 9,375.00$         312.50$            25
1.00                12,500.00$         15 LS 12,500.00$      0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 12,500.00$       -$                    

1.00                58,000.00$         20 LS 58,000.00$      0.00 0.10 0.10 -$                           5,800.00$                -$                            5,800.00$              10% 52,200.00$       580.00$            10
1.00                52,000.00$         30 LS 52,000.00$      0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 52,000.00$       -$                    

1.00                12,500.00$         40 LS 12,500.00$      0.00 0.20 0.20 -$                           2,500.00$                -$                            2,500.00$              20% 10,000.00$       250.00$            

41.00              102,500.00$       50 AC 2,500.00$        0.00 21.00 21.00 -$                           52,500.00$             -$                            52,500.00$           51% 50,000.00$       5,250.00$        50
11,290.00     42,337.50$         60 LF 3.75$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 42,337.50$       -$                    

40,742.00     122,226.00$       70 CY 3.00$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 122,226.00$    -$                    

157,421.00  511,618.25$       80 CY 3.25$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 511,618.25$    -$                    

34,374.00     111,715.50$       80 CY 3.25$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 111,715.50$    -$                    

232,537.00  232,537.00$       90 CY 1.00$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 232,537.00$    -$                    

1.00                92,313.00$         100 LS 92,313.00$      0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 92,313.00$       -$                    

147,738.00  39,889.26$         110 SY 0.27$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 39,889.26$       -$                    

41,811.00     152,610.15$       120 SY 3.65$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 152,610.15$    -$                    

110,545.00  45,323.45$         130 SY 0.41$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 45,323.45$       -$                    

3,300.00       10,725.00$         70 CY 3.25$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 10,725.00$       -$                    

6,092.00       19,799.00$         80 CY 3.25$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 19,799.00$       -$                    

9,392.00       9,392.00$            90 CY 1.00$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0% 9,392.00$         -$                    

1,640,486.11$  TOTAL PAGE 1 -$                           63,925.00$             -$                            63,925.00$           3.90% ########### 6,392.50$        

6392.50
57,532.50

TESTING
NPDES
CLEARING

SODDING 

EMBANKMENT

PERIOD TO:     

 PROJECT NO:    

STC PROJECT NO:    

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE 
SURVEYING

SUBCONTRACT

D

DESCRIPTION OF WORK

MOBILIZATION 

SILT FENCE
REMOVAL OF STRIPPINGS ONSITE
REGULAR EXCAVATION
REGULAR EXCAVATION - PHASE 4

SEEDING

EMBANKMENT
DEWATERING
FINISH GRADING

Ditch Revision
REMOVAL OF STRIPPINGS ONSITE
REGULAR EXCAVATION

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle







Cory.Sitler
Text Box
TOTAL PRIVATE WORK - $73,991.55 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)
TOTAL PUBLIC WORK - $274,108.25 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)



06/25/25Tony Hemmerly

Digitally signed by Tony 
Hemmerly
DN: C=US, 
E=tonyh@smithtrucking.net, 
O="Smith Trucking Company, 
Inc.", CN=Tony Hemmerly
Date: 2025.06.25 13:44:41-04'00'



Cory.Sitler
Rectangle

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle



TonyH
Text Box
$313,289.82



Invoice
Date

7/22/2025

Invoice #

104634-RFP3

Bill To

RLS-KL Radiance, LLC (Kolter Land)
Attn:  Haley Kiernan

Smith Trucking Company, Inc.

51 Ellis Street
Suite 101
St. Augustine, FL 32095

P.O. No. Terms

Net 30

Project

25011 Radiance PH1

Total

Balance Due

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Payments/Credits

Description Qty Rate Amount

Surveying 0.25 58,000.00 14,500.00
Testing 0.3 52,000.00 15,600.00
Regular Excavation 110,195 3.25 358,133.75
Embankment 162,776 1.00 162,776.00
Dewatering 0.7 92,313.00 64,619.10
Finish Grading 22,161 0.27 5,983.47
DITCH REVISION
Removal of Strippings Onsite 3,300 3.25 10,725.00
Regular Excavation 6,092 3.25 19,799.00
Embankment 4,696 1.00 4,696.00
SUBTOTAL 656,832.32
Retainage Held -10.00% -65,683.23

$591,149.09

$591,149.09

$591,149.09

$0.00

$0.00

Cory.Sitler
Text Box
TOTAL PRIVATE WORK - $165,416.47 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)
TOTAL PUBLIC WORK - $491,415.85 (LESS 10% RETAINAGE)



APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT

TO: RLS-KL Radiance LLC PROJECT:  25011 - Radiance Phase 1               APPLICATION NO: 3 DISTRIBUTION TO:

14025 Riveredge Drive, Suite 175               PERIOD TO: 07/25/25 OWNER

Tampa, FL 33637 STC PROJECT NO: 25011 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE

  CONTRACT DATE: 03/10/25 ARCHITECT/DESIGNER

FROM: Smith Trucking Company, Inc. CONTRACTOR

51 Ellis Street, Suite 101 X DEVELOPER

St. Augustine, Florida 32095

CONTRACT FOR:

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT The undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best of the Contractor's knowledge,

Application is made for payment, as shown below, in connection with the information and belief the Work covered by this Application for Payment has been completed

Contract Continuation Sheet, is attached. in accordance with the Contract Documents, that all amounts have been paid by the

Contractor for Work for which previous Certificates for Payment were issued and payments

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT SUM 1,640,486.11$    received from the Owner, and that current payment shown herein is now due.

2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS & EXTRAS -$                          CONTRACTOR:  SMITH TRUCKING COMPANY, INC.

3. CONTRACT SUM TO DATE (Line 1+2) 1,640,486.11$    

By:_______________________________________________________     Date_________________

4. TOTAL COMPLETED & STORED TO DATE 1,068,857.12$    

    (Column  G on G703)

  5.  RETAINAGE:

       a.  10 % of Completed Work    

       b.  10 % of Stored Material

       Total in Column I of G703 106,885.71$        

6. TOTAL EARNED LESS RETAINAGE 961,971.41$        

   (Line 4 less Line 5 Total) OWNER REPRESENTATIVE/CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT

In accordance with the Contract Documents, based on on-site observations and

7. LESS PREVIOUS CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT 370,822.32$        the data comprising this application, the Owner Representative/Contractor certifies 

   (Line 6 from prior Certificate) to the Owner to the best of the Owner's Representative/Contractor's knowledge, 

information and belief the Work has progressed as indicated, the quality of the Work is 

8. CURRENT PAYMENT DUE 591,149.09$        in accordance with the Contract Documents, and the Contractor is entitled to payment 

of the AMOUNT CERTIFIED.

9. BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUDING RETAINAGE 678,514.70$        

   (Line 3 less Line 6) AMOUNT CERTIFIED.......................................... 591,149.09$                

OWNER REPRESENTATIVE/CONTRACTOR

CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY By:__________________________________________  Date:_________________

Total changes approved in

previous months by Owner -$                          This Certificate is not negotiable.  The AMOUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to

-$                          the Contractor named herein.  Issuance, payment and acceptance of payment

are without prejudice to any rights of the Owner or Contractor under this

NET CHANGES by Change Order -$                          Contract.

Total approved this month

TonyH
Text Box
07/22/25

TonyH
Pen
TA



CONTINUATION SHEET                   PAGE    2   OF   2  PAGES

APPLICATION NO: 3 7/25/2025

APPLICATION DATE: 07/25/25 25011 - Radiance Phase 1

25011

A B C E F G H I J K L I J

QUANTITIES DOLLAR AMOUNT BALANCE

ITEM COST STORED COMPLETED % TO RETAINAGE

QTY TOTAL ($) NO. CODE UNIT UNIT PREVIOUS THIS TOTAL PREVIOUS COMPLETED MATERIAL and STORED (K/B) FINISH

(A x E) PRICE APPLICATIONS PERIOD TO DATE APPLICATIONS THIS PERIOD THIS PERIOD TO DATE (B-K)

(F+G) (F x E) (G x E) (I+J+K)

1.00                 12,500.00$         10 LS 12,500.00$     1.00 0.00 1.00 12,500.00$            -$                            -$                            12,500.00$           100.00% -$                     1,250.00$                         

1.00                 12,500.00$         15 LS 12,500.00$     1.00 0.00 1.00 12,500.00$            -$                            -$                            12,500.00$           100.00% -$                     1,250.00$                         

1.00                 58,000.00$         20 LS 58,000.00$     0.50 0.25 0.75 29,000.00$            14,500.00$             -$                            43,500.00$           75.00% 14,500.00$      4,350.00$                         

1.00                 52,000.00$         30 LS 52,000.00$     0.20 0.30 0.50 10,400.00$            15,600.00$             -$                            26,000.00$           50.00% 26,000.00$      2,600.00$                         

1.00                 12,500.00$         40 LS 12,500.00$     0.60 0.00 0.60 7,500.00$               -$                            -$                            7,500.00$              60.00% 5,000.00$         750.00$                             

41.00              102,500.00$      50 AC 2,500.00$        41.00 0.00 41.00 102,500.00$         -$                            -$                            102,500.00$        100.00% -$                     10,250.00$                      

11,290.00    42,337.50$         60 LF 3.75$                  8,468.00 0.00 8,468.00 31,755.00$            -$                            -$                            31,755.00$           75.00% 10,582.50$      3,175.50$                         

40,742.00    122,226.00$      70 CY 3.00$                  40,741.00 0.00 40,741.00 122,223.00$         -$                            -$                            122,223.00$        100.00% 3.00$                   12,222.30$                      

157,421.00  511,618.25$      80 CY 3.25$                  15,742.00 110,195.00 125,937.00 51,161.50$            358,133.75$          -$                            409,295.25$        80.00% 102,323.00$    40,929.53$                      

34,374.00    111,715.50$      80 CY 3.25$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0.00% 111,715.50$    -$                                     

232,537.00  232,537.00$      90 CY 1.00$                  23,254.00 162,776.00 186,030.00 23,254.00$            162,776.00$          -$                            186,030.00$        80.00% 46,507.00$      18,603.00$                      

1.00                 92,313.00$         100 LS 92,313.00$     0.10 0.70 0.80 9,231.30$               64,619.10$             -$                            73,850.40$           80.00% 18,462.60$      7,385.04$                         

147,738.00  39,889.26$         110 SY 0.27$                  0.00 22,161.00 22,161.00 -$                           5,983.47$                -$                            5,983.47$              15.00% 33,905.79$      598.35$                             

41,811.00    152,610.15$      120 SY 3.65$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0.00% 152,610.15$    -$                                     

110,545.00  45,323.45$         130 SY 0.41$                  0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                           -$                            -$                            -$                          0.00% 45,323.45$      -$                                     

3,300.00       10,725.00$         70 CY 3.25$                  0.00 3,300.00 3,300.00 -$                           10,725.00$             -$                            10,725.00$           100.00% -$                     1,072.50$                         

6,092.00       19,799.00$         80 CY 3.25$                  0.00 6,092.00 6,092.00 -$                           19,799.00$             -$                            19,799.00$           100.00% -$                     1,979.90$                         

9,392.00       9,392.00$            90 CY 1.00$                  0.00 4,696.00 4,696.00 -$                           4,696.00$                -$                            4,696.00$              50.00% 4,696.00$         469.60$                             

1,640,486.11$  TOTAL PAGE 1 412,024.80$         656,832.32$          -$                            1,068,857.12$    65.15% 571,628.99$   106,885.72$                   

SUBCONTRACT

D

DESCRIPTION OF WORK

MOBILIZATION 

SILT FENCE

REMOVAL OF STRIPPINGS ONSITE

REGULAR EXCAVATION

REGULAR EXCAVATION - PHASE 4

SEEDING

EMBANKMENT

DEWATERING

FINISH GRADING

Ditch Revision

REMOVAL OF STRIPPINGS ONSITE

REGULAR EXCAVATION

PERIOD TO:     

 PROJECT NO:    

STC PROJECT NO:    

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE 

SURVEYING

TESTING

NPDES

CLEARING

SODDING 

EMBANKMENT

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle

Cory.Sitler
Rectangle



TonyH
Text Box

TonyH
Text Box
$591,149.09



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 6 



4881-0646-4406.1  

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES – CDD PROJECT & BONDS 
This “Agreement” is by and between:  Radiance Community Development District (“District”) and TLC Land Consulting, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company (“Contractor”): 
1. EFFECTIVE DATE.  The Agreement shall be deemed effective as of the date of the full execution of the Agreement.
2. SCOPE OF SERVICES. The Contractor agrees to provide the “Services” outlined in Exhibit A.  Contractor hereby covenants to the District that it shall perform

the Services: (i) using its best skill and judgment and in accordance with generally accepted professional standards, and (ii) in compliance with all applicable federal, 
state, county, municipal, building and zoning, land use, environmental, public safety, non-discrimination and disability accessibility laws, codes, ordinances, rules and 
regulations, permits and approvals for all required basic disciplines that it shall perform.  While providing the Services, the Contractor shall assign such staff as may be 
required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting, and controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Services.  Contractor shall solely be 
responsible for the means, manner and methods by which its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of the District.  Contractor shall at its 
cost obtain all permits, licenses, and other approvals necessary for providing the Services. 

3. COMPENSATION.   As compensation for the Services, the District agrees to pay the Contractor the amounts set forth in Exhibit A, but subject to the terms 
set forth in Exhibit A.  

4. CARE OF DISTRICT PROPERTY.  Contractor shall use all due care to protect the property of the District, its patrons, landowners and authorized guests from
damage by Contractor or its employees or agents.  Contractor agrees to repair any damage resulting from the Services within twenty-four (24) hours.  Any such repairs 
shall be at Contractor’s sole expense, unless otherwise agreed, in writing, by the District.  

5. STANDARD OF CARE; INDEMNIFICATION.  Contractor shall use reasonable care in performing the services and shall be responsible for any harm of any kind 
to persons or property resulting from Contractor’s actions or inactions.  The Contractor warrants to the District that all materials furnished under this Agreement shall 
be new, and that all services and materials shall be of good quality, free from faults and defects.  Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District 
and its officers, agents, employees, successors, assigns, members, affiliates, or representatives from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits, liens, demands, costs, 
interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, judgments against the District, or loss or damage, whether monetary or otherwise, arising out of, wholly or in part by, or 
in connection with the services to be performed by Contractor, its subcontractors, its employees and agents in connection with this Agreement, including litigation, 
mediation, arbitration, appellate, or settlement proceedings with respect thereto. The indemnification rights herein contained shall be cumulative of, and in addition 
to, any and all rights, remedies and recourse to which the District shall be entitled, whether pursuant to some other provision of this Agreement, at law, or in equity. 
The provisions of this Section shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.  Nothing in this Section is intended to waive or alter any other remedies 
that the District may have as against the Contractor.   

6. INSURANCE.  The Contractor or any subcontractor performing the work described in this Agreement shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement 
the insurance identified in the Certificate of Insurance attached hereto as Exhibit B, and the District shall be listed as an additional insured under all such insurance.  
The Contractor shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with this requirement.  No certificate shall be acceptable to the District 
unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior 
written notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida. 

7. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.  Contractor further agrees that nothing in the Agreement between the parties shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of the 
District’s limitations on liability contained in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute.  

8. TERMINATION.  The Agreement may be terminated immediately by the District for cause, or for any or no reason upon 5 days written notice by either party.
Contractor shall not be entitled to lost profits or any other damages of any kind resulting from any such termination by the District, provided however that Contractor 
shall be entitled to payment for any work provided through the effective date of termination, subject to any offsets. 

9. PUBLIC RECORDS.  Contractor understands and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be
public records, and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 
119.0701, Florida Statutes.  

10. ATTORNEY’S FEES.  In the event that either party is required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute 
resolution, or appellate proceedings. 

11. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES.  Contractor certifies that it is not in violation of section 287.135, Florida Statutes, and is not prohibited from doing business with
the District under Florida law, including but not limited to Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran 
Petroleum Energy Sector List.  If Contractor is found to have submitted a false statement, has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or 
the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria, or is now or in the 
future on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List, or engaged in a boycott of Israel, the District may immediately terminate this Agreement. 

12. E-VERIFY.  Contractor shall comply with and perform all applicable provisions of Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. The District may terminate the Agreement 
immediately for cause if there is a good faith belief that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.091, Florida Statutes. By entering into this Agreement, the 
Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with the Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the year immediately 
preceding the date of this Agreement.   

13. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Contractor may assign this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other, which approval shall not 
be unreasonably withheld.  Any purported assignment of this Agreement without such prior written approval shall be void.  

14. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS. In all matters relating to this Agreement, the Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor. The Contractor
shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Contractor shall have no authority to represent the 
District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 

15. AGREEMENT.  This instrument, together with its attachments which are hereby incorporated herein, shall constitute the final and complete expression of 
this Agreement between the District and Contractor relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.  

16. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed
by both the District and the Contractor. 

17. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by the appropriate body or official of the District and the Contractor, both the
District and the Contractor have complied with all the requirements of law, and both the District and the Contractor have full power and authority to comply with the 
terms and provisions of this instrument. 

18. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the
remaining portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 

19. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION. This Agreement has been negotiated fully between the District and the Contractor as an arm’s length transaction. The District
and the Contractor participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute concerning the 
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and any doubtful language will not 
be interpreted or construed against any party. 

20. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, 
all such counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 251950C4-AA83-477F-B0DA-4F89310788F0



4881-0646-4406.1  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute the foregoing Agreement. 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 
By:_____________________________________ 
Its:_____________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 
By:_____________________________________ 
Its:_____________________________________ 

Exhibit A: Services & Compensation 
Exhibit B:  Insurance Certificate with Endorsements 

Docusign Envelope ID: 251950C4-AA83-477F-B0DA-4F89310788F0

President

David Truxton

10/9/2025

TLC Land Consulting, LLC

Director of HOAs/CDDs10/8/2025

Kolter Land

William Fife



4881-0646-4406.1  

Exhibit A: Services & Compensation

Contractor agrees to provide the following Services in connection with the District’s “Series 2025 Project” (herein, “Project”) and related 
Series 2025 Bond issuance:   

• Consult and assist the District and project developer regarding bond sizing, lot counts, assessment levels, timing, project due
diligence, engineer and assessment reports, and other items necessary for the issuance of the District’s bonds pledged to fund a
portion of the Project (together, “Bond Services”);

Contractor shall be reasonably available to District, as and when requested by District from time to time (either telephonically, by video or in person) 
on reasonable advance notice or by email, on an as-needed basis during normal business hours, to: (i) assist District with development and 
implementation of Project strategies; (ii) participate in regularly scheduled meetings; and (iii) respond to requests from District for information or 
business advice. Contractor agrees to use his best efforts in performing the duties set forth hereunder. However, nothing contained in this Agreement 
shall be construed as a guarantee of results including the Project returns and obtaining the required permits.  

Bond Services Compensation - For the Bond Services, the District agrees to pay the Contractor from the Bond proceeds and in the amount 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000).  In the event that the District does not in its sole discretion elect to issue a particular series of Bonds, then the 
District will owe nothing to Contractor under this Agreement for the Services related to that series of Bonds. 

The Contractor does not represent the District as a Municipal Advisor or Securities Broker nor is the 
Contractor registered to provide such services as described in Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended. Similarly, the Contractor does not provide the District with financial advisory services or offer 
investment advice in any form. 

Further, as a point of clarification, the Services shall NOT include any work within the scope of 
“Professional services” as defined in Section 287.055, Florida Statutes, or similar law, and instead the Services are 
limited to the items above, as they relate to administration of the Project, and NOT Professional services. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 251950C4-AA83-477F-B0DA-4F89310788F0



4881-0646-4406.1  

Exhibit B: Certificate of Insurance 
 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 251950C4-AA83-477F-B0DA-4F89310788F0



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 7 



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6

President

9/22/2025 | 6:36 PM EDT

Chad Hazen

23 September 2025



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6



Docusign Envelope ID: 00BC6C32-5282-4833-80AF-5A79A89C2EB6







  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 8 

































































































































































































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 9 























































































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 10 



RESOLUTION 2025-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT RATIFYING, CONFIRMING, AND APPROVING THE SALE 
OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 
BONDS, SERIES 2025 (ASSESSMENT AREA ONE); RATIFYING, CONFIRMING, AND 
APPROVING THE ACTIONS OF THE CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN, TREASURER, 
SECRETARY, ASSISTANT SECRETARIES, AND ALL DISTRICT STAFF REGARDING THE 
SALE AND CLOSING OF THE BONDS; DETERMINING SUCH ACTIONS AS BEING IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTHORIZATION GRANTED BY THE BOARD; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (“District”), is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District previously adopted resolutions authorizing the issuance and the 
negotiated sale of bonds within the scope of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, including its Special 
Assessment Bonds, Series 2025 (Assessment Area One), in the par amount of $17,300,000(“Series 
2025 Bonds”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District previously adopted a resolution authorizing the finalization of the 
debt assessment lien securing the Series 2025 Bonds, including but not limited to authorization 
to finalize the supplemental engineer’s report and supplemental assessment report; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District closed on the sale of the Series 2025 Bonds on September 11, 
2025; and 
 
 WHEREAS, as prerequisites to the issuance of the Series 2025 Bonds, the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff including the District Manager, 
District Financial Advisor, and District Counsel were required to execute and deliver various 
documents (“Closing Documents”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District desires to ratify, confirm, and approve all actions of the District 
Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff in connection with 
closing the sale of the Series 2025 Bonds. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The sale, issuance, and closing of the Series 2025 Bonds is in the best 
interests of the District. 
 

SECTION 2. The issuance and sale of the Series 2025 Bonds, the adoption of resolutions 
relating to such bonds, the agreements entered into with respect to the issuance of such bonds, 



and all actions taken in the furtherance of the closing on such bonds, are hereby declared and 
affirmed as being in the best interests of the District and are hereby ratified, approved, and 
confirmed. 
 
 SECTION 3. The actions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Secretary, 
Assistant Secretaries, and all District Staff in finalizing the closing and issuance of the Series 2025 
Bonds, including but not limited to: (1) the execution and delivery of the Closing Documents, (2) 
the exercise of all authority granted pursuant to Resolution 2025-01 which authorized the 
issuance of the Bonds, (3) the exercise of all authority pursuant to, and finalization of, Resolution 
2025-02 which confirmed the maximum assessment lien securing the Bonds, and (4) the 
execution and delivery of such other certifications or other documents required for the closing 
on the Series 2025 Bonds, are determined to be in accordance with the prior authorizations of 
the Board and are hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed in all respects, and Resolutions 2025-
01 and 2025-02 on file with the District Manager and as included in the transcript for the Series 
2025 Bonds are hereby determined to be in final form. 
 
 SECTION 4.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 5. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th day of October, 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST:     RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 11 



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING AND FIXING THE COMPENSATION OF THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AND METHODOLOGY CONSULTANT; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE  

 
WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-

purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within Flagler County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) must employ and fix compensation 

of a District Manager; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a Methodology Consultant to advise regarding the 

proposed issuance of special assessment bonds and other financing methods for District improvements; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the appointment of a Methodology Consultant is 
necessary, appropriate and in the District’s best interests; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a District Manager and Methodology Consultant and to 

provide compensation for their services. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF DISTRICT MANAGER.  The District Manager and Methodology 

Consultant is hereby appointed, and shall be compensated for their services, pursuant to the agreement 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, which is hereby approved.  This authorization shall be continuing in nature 
until revoked by the District. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

The transition to the new District Manager and Methodology Consultant is effective 12:00 a.m. on 
November 17, 2025. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27TH day of October, 2025.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
Exhibit A:  District Manager Fee Agreement 



2 
 

Exhibit A 
 District Manager Fee Agreement 

 
 



1 
 

 
 

AGREEMENT FOR 
DISTRICT MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

 
This Agreement for District Management Services (“Agreement”) is entered into as of 

October 27th, 2025 (“Execution Date”) and shall be effective as of 12:01 a.m. on November 17th, 
2025 (“Effective Date”), by and between: 

 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
in Flagler County, Florida whose mailing address is 219 E. Livingston Street, 
Orlando, Florida 32801 (“District”); and 
 
GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES-CENTRAL FLORIDA LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company, with a mailing address of 219 E. Livingston Street, 
Orlando, Florida 32801 (“Manager” or “GMS-CF,” together with District, 
“Parties”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant 
to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, as codified in Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, by ordinance adopted in Flagler County, Florida, for the purpose of planning, financing, 
constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District desires to enter into an agreement with Manager to provide district 
management services all as further set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto (“Services” or “District 
Management Services”) and Manager has agreed to provide such Services; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District and Manager warrant and agree that they have all right, power and 
authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  Manager agrees to provide the Services as set forth 
in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.  
 

SECTION 3. FEES AND TERMS OF SERVICES; TERM.   
A. All Services will be completed on a timely basis in accordance with the 

District needs and statutory requirements.  



2 
 

 
B. The District agrees to compensate the Manager in accordance with the 

Schedule of Fees set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.  
Payment shall be made in equal monthly installments at the beginning of each month and may be 
amended annually as evidenced by the annual budget (“Annual Budget”) approved by the Board 
of Supervisors of the District (“Board”). All invoices are due and payable when received. 

 
C. The initial term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date, and 

continues until September 30, 2026, unless terminated earlier by either Party in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement. Thereafter this Agreement shall automatically renew each Fiscal 
Year (i.e., October 1 to September 30th of the following year) of the District, unless otherwise 
terminated by either Party. The District will consider price adjustments each twelve (12) month 
period to compensate for market conditions and the planned workload of the District to be 
performed during the next twelve (12) month period.  Evidence of price or fee adjustments will be 
approved by the Board in its adopted or amended Annual Budget. 
 

SECTION 4. INDEMNIFICATION.   
A. To the extent allowable under applicable law (and only to the extent of the 

limitations of liability set forth in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes), except to the extent caused by 
the negligence, reckless, and/or willful misconduct of the Manager or Manager’s breach of this 
Agreement, the District agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Manager and its 
officers, supervisors, staff, and employees from and against any and all liability, claims, actions, 
suits, demands, assessments or judgments asserted and any and all losses, liabilities, damages, 
costs, court costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, that Manager may hereafter incur, 
become responsible for, or be caused to pay out arising out of or relating to the negligent or 
intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of the District. The indemnification provided for herein 
shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which the Manager may be entitled and shall 
continue after the Manager has ceased to be engaged under this Agreement. 

 
B. The Manager agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the District 

and its officers, supervisors, staff, and employees from and against any and all liability, claims, 
actions, suits, demands, assessments or judgments asserted and any and all losses, liabilities, 
damages, costs, court costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, that the District may hereafter 
incur, become responsible for, or be caused to pay out arising out of or relating to the Manager’s 
failure to perform under this Agreement or at law, or the negligent, reckless, or intentionally 
wrongful acts or omissions of the Manager. The indemnification provided for herein shall not be 
deemed exclusive of any other rights to which the District may be entitled and shall continue after 
the Manager has ceased to be engaged under this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 5. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY. Nothing herein shall be 
construed to waive or limit the District’s sovereign immunity limitations of liability as provided 
in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other applicable law. Nothing in this Agreement shall inure 
to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would otherwise be 
barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of law. 
 
 



3 
 

SECTION 6. TERMINATION.  
A. This Agreement may be terminated as follows: (1) By the District for “good 

cause,” which shall include misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance or dereliction of duties by the 
Manager which termination may be immediate; or (2) By the Manager or District, for any reason, 
upon 60 days written notice.  

 
B. Upon any termination of this Agreement: (1) the Manager shall be entitled 

to payment for all Services rendered up until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject 
to whatever claims or off-sets the District may have against the Manager; and (2) the Manager will 
make all reasonable effort to provide for an orderly transfer of the books and records of the District 
to the District or its designee. 
 

SECTION 7. SUCCESSORS; ASSIGNMENT.  The rights and obligations of the District as 
defined by this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the successors 
and assigns of the District. Neither the District nor the Manager may assign this Agreement without 
the prior written approval of the other.  Any purported assignment without such approval shall be 
void.  
 

SECTION 8. NOTICES. All notices required in this Agreement shall be sent by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, or express mail with proof of receipt to the Parties as follows: 

 
A. If to District:   Radiance Community Development District 

219 E. Livingston Street 
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Attn:  District Manager, George Flint 
GFlint@gmscfl.com  
 

With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP. 
107 W College Avenue 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Attn: District Counsel, Jere Earlywine 
Jere.Earlywine@kutakrock.com  
 

  Kutak Rock LLP. 
107 W College Avenue 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Attn: District Counsel, Ashley Ligas 
Ashley.Ligas@kutakrock.com  
 

B. If to Manager:  Governmental Management Services-Central Florida LLC 
219 E. Livingston Street 
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Attn:  District Manager, George Flint 
GFlint@gmscfl.com  
 
 

mailto:JShowe@gmscfl.com
mailto:Jere.Earlywine@kutakrock.com
mailto:Ashley.Ligas@kutakrock.com
mailto:JShowe@gmscfl.com


4 
 

 
With copies to:  Governmental Management Services-Central Florida LLC 

219 E. Livingston Street 
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Attn: President, Darrin Mossing 
DMossing@gmstnn.com   
 

  Governmental Management Services-Central Florida LLC 
219 E. Livingston Street 
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Attn: Chief Operating Officer, Keith Nelson 
KNelson@gmscfl.com  
 

  Governmental Management Services-Central Florida LLC 
219 E. Livingston Street 
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Attn: Jeremy LeBrun, District Manager, 
JLeBrun@gmscfl.com  
 

  Governmental Management Services-Central Florida LLC 
699 North Federal Highway, Suite 300 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33304 
Attn: Kurt Zimmerman, Registered Agent 
kurt@zimmermanlaw.com  

 
SECTION 9. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and the provisions 

contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 
of the State of Florida.  All actions and disputes shall be brought in the proper court and venue, 
which shall be Flagler County, Florida. 

 
SECTION 10. E-VERIFY REQUIREMENTS. The Manager, on behalf of itself and its 

subcontractors, hereby warrants compliance with all federal immigration laws and regulations 
applicable to their employees.  The Manager further agrees that the District is a public employer 
subject to the E-Verify requirements provided in Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and such 
provisions of said statute are applicable to this Agreement, including, but not limited to registration 
with and use of the E-Verify system.  The Manager agrees to utilize the E-Verify system to verify 
work authorization status of all newly hired employees.  The Manager shall provide sufficient 
evidence that it is registered with the E-Verify system before commencement of performance 
under this Agreement.  If the District has a good faith belief that the Manager is in violation of 
Section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, or has knowingly hired, recruited, or referred an alien that is 
not duly authorized to work by the federal immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United 
States for employment under this Agreement, the District shall terminate this Agreement.  The 
Manager shall require an affidavit from each subcontractor providing that the subcontractor does 
not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien.  The Manager shall retain a 
copy of each such affidavit for the term of this Agreement and all renewals thereof.  If the District 
has a good faith belief that a subcontractor of the Manager performing work under this Agreement 

mailto:DMossing@gmstnn.com
mailto:KNelson@gmscfl.com
mailto:JLeBrun@gmscfl.com
mailto:kurt@zimmermanlaw.com


5 
 

is in violation of Section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, or has knowingly hired, recruited, or referred 
an alien that is not duly authorized to work by the federal immigration laws or the Attorney General 
of the United States for employment under this Agreement, the District promptly notify the 
Manager and order the Manager to immediately terminate its subcontract with the subcontractor.  
The Manager shall be liable for any additional costs incurred by the District as a result of the 
termination of any contract, including this Agreement, based on Manager’s failure to comply with 
the E-Verify requirements referenced in this subsection. 
 

SECTION 11. SEVERABILITY.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement 
shall be determined to be unenforceable or invalid by a court such unenforceability or invalidity 
shall not affect the remaining provisions of the Agreement which shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
  

SECTION 12. AMENDMENTS. Any amendment or change to this Agreement shall 
be in writing and executed by all Parties. 

 
SECTION 13. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT.  The District acknowledges that the 

Manager is not a Municipal Advisor or Securities Broker, nor is the Manager registered to provide 
such services as described in Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
Similarly, the District acknowledges that the Manager does not provide the District with financial 
advisory services or offer investment advice. 
 

SECTION 14. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and 
complete expression of this Agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement..  
 

SECTION 15. INSURANCE.  The Manager shall, at its own expense, maintain 
insurance during the performance of the Services with limits of liability not less than the following: 

 
Workers’ Compensation Statutory  
General Liability 
   Bodily Injury (including contractual) 
  Property Damage (including contractual) 

 
$1,000,000 
$1,000,000 

Commercial Crime/Fidelity Insurance $1,000,000 

Professional Liability Insurance $2,000,000 

Automobile Liability (if applicable) * 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
Covering owned, non-owned, and hired 
vehicles 

$1,000,000 

 
*Automobile liability insurance is required if the Manager will 
use any vehicles on-site, including owned, non-owned, and 
hired vehicles. 

 



6 
 

Except with respect to Professional Liability and Workers’ Compensation insurance policies, 
the District, its staff, consultants, and supervisors shall be named as additional insured, on a 
primary non-contributory basis, on each insurance policy described above.  The Manager shall 
furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with this requirement.  
No certificate shall be acceptable to the District unless it provides that any change or termination 
within the policy periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty 
(30)days of prior written notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable 
insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida. 

 
SECTION 16. COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS.  Manager 

understands and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with 
this Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, Manager agrees to comply with all 
applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 
119.0701, Florida Statutes. Manager acknowledges that the designated public records custodian 
for the District is George Flint (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other requirements and 
to the extent applicable by law, the Manager shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by 
the District to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, provide the 
District with the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a  
reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or confidential, and exempt from public 
records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of 
the contract term and following the contract term if the Manager does not transfer the records to 
the Public Records Custodian of the District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to 
the District, at no cost, all  public records in Manager’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain 
and meet all applicable  requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When 
such public records are transferred by the Manager, the Manager shall destroy any duplicate public 
records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.  
All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a format that is compatible 
with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats:   
 
IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORDS AT (813) 344-4844, INFO@GMSCFL.COM WITH A COPY TO 
GFLINT@GMSCFL.COM, 219 E. LIVINGSTON STREET, ORLANDO, 
FLORIDA 32801. 
 

SECTION 17. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the 
benefit of the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or 
for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, 

mailto:INFO@GMSCFL.COM
mailto:GFLINT@GMSCFL.COM


7 
 

covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall 
be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors, and assigns. 

 
SECTION 18. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in 

this Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 19. COUNTERPARTS. This instrument may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, and such 
counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signature and acknowledgment 
pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single copy of this document 
to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 20. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  A default by either Party under 
this Agreement shall entitle the other Party to all remedies available at law or in equity.  In the 
event that either the District or the Manager is required to enforce this Agreement by court 
proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs 
incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or 
appellate proceedings. 
 

SECTION 21. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 20.055, FLORIDA STATUTES.   If 
applicable, the Manager agrees to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, to cooperate 
with the inspector general in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing pursuant such 
section and to incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with Section 20.055(5), 
Florida Statutes. 
 

SECTION 22. STATEMENT REGARDING CHAPTER 287 REQUIREMENTS. Manager 
acknowledges that, in addition to all Laws and Regulations that apply to this Agreement, the 
following provisions of Florida law (“Public Integrity Laws”) apply to this Agreement: 

 
A. Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, titled Public entity crime; denial or revocation 

of the right to transact business with public entities; 
B. Section 287.134, Florida Statutes, titled Discrimination; denial or revocation of 

the right to transact business with public entities; 
C. Section 287.135, Florida Statutes, titled Prohibition against contracting with 

scrutinized companies; 
D. Section 287.137, Florida Statutes, titled Antitrust violations; denial or revocation 

of the right to transact business with public entities; denial of economic benefits; 
and 

E. Section 287.138, Florida Statutes, titled Contracting with entities of foreign 
countries of concern prohibited. 
 

Manager acknowledges that the Public Integrity Laws prohibit entities that meet certain 
criteria from bidding on or entering into or renewing a contract with governmental entities, 
including with the District (“Prohibited Criteria”). 

  



8 
 

Manager acknowledges that the District may terminate this Agreement if the Manager is 
found to have met the Prohibited Criteria or violated the Public Integrity Laws. 

 
Manager certifies that in entering into this Agreement, neither it nor any of its officers, 

directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in the 
management of the entity, nor any affiliate of the entity, meets any of the Prohibited Criteria, and 
in the event such status changes, Manager shall immediately notify the District. By entering into 
this Agreement, Manager agrees that any renewal or extension of this Agreement shall be deemed 
a recertification of such status. 

 
SECTION 23. ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING REQUIREMENTS.  Manager certifies, 

by acceptance of this Agreement, that neither it nor its principals utilize coercion for labor or 
services as defined in section 787.06, Florida Statutes. Manager agrees to execute an affidavit, 
attached hereto as Exhibit D and incorporated herein, in compliance with section 787.06(13), 
Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 24. MUNICIPAL ADVISOR STATEMENT.  The District acknowledges that 

the Manager is not a Municipal Advisor or Securities Broker, nor is the Manager registered to 
provide such services as described in Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.   Similarly, the District acknowledges that the Manager does not provide the District 
with financial advisory services or offer investment advice. 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



9 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the 
Effective Date. 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary 
Board Of Supervisors 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Print Name   
 

 RADIANCE COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  
 
 
 
By:     ___________________________________ 

Print:  ___________________________________ 

Its:     ___________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson,  
Board of Supervisors    

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Witness 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Print Name of Witness 
 

 GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES-CENTRAL FLORIDA, LLC 
 
 
 
By:     ___________________________________ 

Print:  ___________________________________ 

Its:     ___________________________________ 

 

Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
Exhibit B:  Schedule of Fees 
Exhibit C:  Certificate of Insurance 
Exhibit D: Anti-Human Trafficking Affidavit 
Exhibit E: District Management Proposal 



10 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
GENERAL MANAGEMENT, ADMINISTRATIVE, AND ACCOUNTING 

SERVICES 
 

 This engagement is for the Manager to provide District Management Services for the 
District.  The duties and responsibilities include, but are not limited to the following: 
 

Meetings, Hearings, Workshops, Etc. 
 

• The Manager will organize, conduct, and provide minutes for all meetings of the District. 
This includes, but is not limited to, scheduling meetings, providing agenda packages and 
meeting materials in the form requested by the District Board of Supervisors, and 
publishing Board meeting, public hearing notices, and landowner election notices pursuant 
to Florida law. 

 
• The Manager will consult with the District Board of Supervisors and its designated 

representatives, and when necessary, organize such meetings, discussions, project site 
visits, workshops, and hearings as may pertain to the administration and accomplishment 
of the various projects and services provided by the District. 

 
Records 

 
• The Manager will maintain “Record of Proceedings” for the District within the boundaries 

of the local government in which the District is located and include meeting minutes, 
agreements, resolutions and other records required by law or contract and provide access 
to such records as necessary for proper District function or compliance with Florida’s 
public records laws. 

 
• The Manager will serve as the Custodian of Public Records for the District and fulfill the 

duties imposed upon the District by Florida Statutes, Chapter 119. 
 
 

District Operations 
 

• The Manager will act as the primary point of contact for District-related matters. 
 

• The Manager will consult with and advise the District on matters related to the operation 
and maintenance of the District’s public infrastructure.  

 
• The Manager will make recommendations and assist in matters relating to solicitation, 

approval, rejection, amendment, renewal, and cancellation of contracts for services to the 
District.  In advance of expiration of contracts, the Manager will advise the Board as to 
need for renewal or additional procurement activities and implement same. 

 



11 
 

• The Manager will recommend and advise the Board, in consultation with the District 
Engineer of the appropriate amount and type of insurance and be responsible for procuring 
all necessary insurance.  

 
• The Manager will ensure compliance with all statutes affecting the District by performing 

the following tasks (and such other tasks required by law but not specifically identified 
herein): 

 
- File name and location of the Registered Agent and Office location annually with 

Department of Community Affairs and the County. 
- Provide legal description and boundary map as provided by District Engineer to the 

Supervisor of Elections 
- Provide the regular meeting schedule of the Board to County. 
- File all required financial reports to the Department of Revenue, Auditor General, the 

County, and other governmental agencies with jurisdiction in compliance with 
Florida law. 

- File request letter to the Supervisor of Election of the County for number of registered 
voters as of April 15, each year.  Report annually the number of registered voters in 
the District by June 1, of each year. 

- Transmit Public Facilities Report and related updates to appropriate agencies. 
- Prepare and file annual public depositor report. 
 

Accounting and Reporting 
 

• The Manager will implement an integrated management reporting system compliant with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for government and fund accounting 
which will allow the District to represent fairly and with full disclosure the financial 
position of the District.  The District’s accounting activities will be overseen by a degreed 
accountant. 

 
• The Manager will prepare reports as appropriate under applicable law, accounting 

standards, and bond trust indenture requirements.  The Manager will track the District’s 
general fund and bond fund activities and provide monthly and annual financial statements 
(including budget to actual summary).   

 
• The Manager will administer the processing, review and approval, and timely payment of 

all invoices and purchase orders.  
 
• The Manager will oversee District’s capital and general fund accounts. 

 
Audits 

 
• The Manager will provide audit support to auditors for the required Annual Audit, and will 

ensure completion and submission of audit and Annual Financial Statements to the County, 
Auditor General, and other appropriate government entities in compliance with Florida 
law. 



12 
 

 
 
 

Budgeting 
 

• The Manager will prepare and provide for a proposed budget for Board approval and 
submission to County in compliance with state law.  The Manager will prepare final budget 
and backup material for and present the budget at all budget meetings, hearings and 
workshops.  The Manager will ensure that all budget meetings, hearings, and workshops 
are properly noticed.   

 
• The Manager will administer the adopted budget and prepare budget amendments on an 

ongoing basis as necessary. 
 

Capital Program Administration 
 

• The Manager will maintain proper capital fund and project fund accounting procedures and 
records.  

 
• The Manager will coordinate with District staff to provide for appropriate bid and or 

proposal/qualification processes for Capital Project Construction.  
 
• The Manager will oversee and implement bond issue related compliance, i.e., coordination 

of annual arbitrage report, transmittal of annual audit and budget to the trustee, transmittal 
of annual audit to bond holders and underwriters, annual/quarterly disclosure reporting, 
etc. 

Field Operations Management 
 

• Upon direction by the District’s Board of Supervisors and upon mutual agreement of 
the parties hereto, the Field Operations Manager will provide Maintenance Contract 
Administration for District in general accordance with the fees outlined in Exhibit A.  

• Create and maintain a fluid monthly report or action item list and present this report at 
all regularly scheduled Board of Supervisors Meetings. 

• Engage and supervise all persons, as needed, necessary to properly maintain and 
operate the Property; this includes and is not limited to hired service vendors, 
maintenance staff, contracted vendors, and their subs. 

• Purchase tools, equipment, supplies, and materials, ensuring, without qualification or 
exception, that the District is receiving the benefit and economies of competitive 
market prices. 

• Solicit bids for services and materials and supplies to the District.   

• Solicit, analyze, and negotiate informal contracts on behalf of the District, for services 
reasonably necessary with respect to the operation, maintenance, upkeep, repair, 
replacement, and preservation of the Property; all of which Service Contracts shall be 



13 
 

subject to prior approval of and be executed by an officer of the District designated by 
the Board. 

• Contract Management: Oversee and manage District field contracts for Landscape 
Maintenance, Aquatic Maintenance, and other service vendors by meeting with, and 
coordinating with vendors as needed to ensure contractual standards are being 
satisfied.  Deficiency reports will be created when it is prudent to do so to enhance 
performance. 

• Facility Management: Perform routine inspections as needed and present areas of 
potential concern to the District as identified; site visits will be on average twice a 
month.  This is to identify possible maintenance items and ensure contracted contractor 
supplemental work has been performed satisfactorily.  Additionally, to proactively 
monitor the status of district assets. 

• Correspond and communicate with the Board of Supervisors and District Staff to 
respond to the various needs of the District and Community. 

• Provide regular reports to the Board regarding the status of pending and completed 
activities and operations affecting the District and the Property.  

 
Field Maintenance Services 

 
• At the direction of the Board of Supervisors, District Manager, and/or Field Operations 

Manager, facilitate and carry out maintenance requests for the Community. 

• Include supporting details on the invoices for each maintenance repair assignment, as 
well as for the Monthly Field Operations Report. 

• Perform regular general maintenance services as requested at normal rates.  This can 
be done through a monthly allowance for more rapid and voluminous work or proposals 
can be provided for individual projects. 

 
 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 

Assessments & Revenue Collection 
 

• The Manager will develop and administer the annual assessment roll for the District.  This 
includes administering the tax roll for the District for assessments collected by the County 
and administering assessments for Off Tax Roll parcels/lots. 

 
• The Manager will provide payoff information and pre-payment amounts as requested by 

property owners, and collect prepayment of assessments as necessary. 
 
• The Manager will monitor development of the District and perform Assessment True-up 

Analysis when appropriate. 



14 
 

 
• The Manager will issue estoppel letters as needed for property transfers. 
 
• The Manager will maintain the District’s Lien Book, in which is recorded the details of 

any District debt and the related debt service assessments. The Lien Book will account for 
all District debt and show the allocation of debt principal to assessed properties within the 
District. 

 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
 The District shall provide for the timely services of its legal counsel, engineer and any 
other consultants, contractors or employees, as required, for the Manager to perform the duties 
outlined in this Contract.  Expenses incurred in providing this support shall be the sole 
responsibility of the District. 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



15 
 

EXHIBIT B 
SCHEDULE OF FEES 

 
STANDARD ON-GOING SERVICES (“SERVICES”): These services will be provided on a 
recurring basis and are commonly referred to as the basic services necessary for the normal and 
routine functioning of the District Management Services. 
1. DISTRICT MANAGEMENT SERVICES:  
 

Services Description Fiscal Year 2026 
GMS Fees ** 

Management, Administrative, and Accounting Services 
• Annual Fee paid in equal monthly payments  

(plus reimbursables) 
• Our Agreement contemplates up to 12 meetings and 1 

workshop annually 

 
$40,000 

Annual Assessment Administration 
• (Beginning with the first assessment to individual unit 

owners, direct assessment or utilizing tax collector) 
• One-time Annual Fee charged when the annual 

assessment is certified.    

 
$6,000 

Information Technology Fees, Computer System Rental, 
& Annual Website Maintenance 
• Annual Fee paid in equal monthly payments  
• (Does not include the cost of creation of an ADA-

Compliant website, if applicable.  No Overage fees due 
to the number of pages stored by GMS.)     

 
$3,000 

Dissemination Agent Services  
• Annual Fee paid in equal monthly payments 

o ($2,500 for each additional series of Bonds) 

 
 

$5,000 

Field Operations Management  
• Annual Fee paid in equal monthly payments. 
• The Field Operations Manager is an onsite part-time 

position. 
o Two on-site visits per month on average 

 
 

Services Available  
To Be Negotiated 

 

Annual Fiscal Year 2026 GMS Fees  
(Prorated As Appropriate)  $54,000 

 

  



16 
 

2. OTHER FEES SCHEDULE:  
 

Item Cost 

Agenda Package Hardcopy (if Applicable) $2.50 per regular 
Agenda Mtg. 

Copy $0.15 / black and 
white page 

Binders, Envelopes, Storage Boxes, and other Office 
Supplies 

Actual Cost 

USPS / FedEx / UPS / Conference Calls Actual Cost 

Offsite Physical Records Storage and Archival $50.00 / Month 

Additional Services Available: Cost 

Other Services **  
• New Bond Issuance Cost (per bond issue)  
• Refinance Bond Issuance Cost (per bond issue)  
• Debt Service Assessment Methodology Preparation 
• SERC Preparation & Assistance w/ Petition  
• Prepaid Estoppel Letter – One Lot 
• Prepaid Estoppel Letter – Multiple Lots 
• Prepaid Estoppel Letter – Partial Payoffs 
• Annual Construction Accounting Fee (while active) 
• Request For Proposal Scope Preparation Documents 

(per RFP request - Landscaping, Irrigation, Aquatic, etc.) 

  
$25,000 
$15,000 
$20,000 
$5,000 

$100 
$250 
$299 

$2,500 
$3,500  

Extended or Extra Board Meetings: 
• Any extra meeting(s) or meeting duration exceeding a 3-

hour duration may be charged a meeting overage fee. 

 
$250/hr. 

Additional Services:   
• All other requested items not specifically denoted in 

Exhibit "B" will be subject to either a flat rate proposal or 
an hourly rate proposal to the District. 

 
To Be  

Negotiated 



17 
 

Item Cost 
 

Standard Hourly Rates:   
• The Hourly rate for the District Manager is $175/Hour. 
• The Hourly rate for the District Accountant is $125/Hour. 
• The Hourly rate for the Field Supervisor is $100/Hour. 
• The Hourly rate for the District Administrative Assistant is 

$80/Hour. 

 
As Defined 

Out-of-Pocket Reimbursable Expenses 
• Reimbursable expenses to be itemized on invoicing each 

month. 

 At GMS  
Standard Rate  

or Costs 

Facility Maintenance and Repair Services 
• GMS has a comprehensive on-site and insured 

maintenance service for small to medium-sized projects 
which can be provided at the direction of the District 
Board of Supervisors and/or the District Manager 

  
At GMS  

Standard Rate  
or Costs  

+ Expenses 

Public Records Requests:   
• Public Records request will be charged to the person 

making the request at fees allowable by law. These 
amounts will be reimbursed to GMS-CF by the District at 
the same rate. 

 
As Defined 

**       For Fiscal Year 2026, with dates effective October 1st, 2025, through 
September 30th, 2026, the GMS fees are reflected in the Adopted 2026 Budget.   

Miscellaneous fees are reviewed annually by GMS. An itemization of all miscellaneous 
fees and units consumed is included in the monthly invoice and presented to the Board of 
Supervisors for approval as part of the agenda packages. GMS strives to work with the 
District to minimize reimbursable expenses by utilizing electronic agendas and similar 
approaches. Any additional insurance requirements will be treated as reimbursable 
expenses and invoiced to the District annually. 

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 
 



18 
 

EXHIBIT C 
CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

 
 

 

09/30/2025

Zelen Risk Solutions, Inc.
7964 Devoe Street
Jacksonville FL 32220

Holly Howe
(904) 262-8080 (904) 262-1444
holly@zelenrisk.com

Governmental Management Services-Central
Florida, LLC
1001 Bradford Way
Kingston TN 37763-3146

Northfield Insurance Company

A X
X

X

WS623406 09/02/2024 09/02/2025

2,000,000
100,000
5,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000

Certificate holder, its officers, supervisors, agents, managers, engineers and staff are additional insureds with respect to the general
liability when required by written contract. Coverage is primary and non-contributory. Waiver of subrogation applies in favor of the
additional insureds when required by written contract.

Radiance CDD
219 E Livingston St

Orlando, FL 32801 <HH>  

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSR WVD

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER A :
INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EFF POLICY EXPTYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

GENERAL LIABILITY

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTED

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $
$PRO-POLICY LOCJECT

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
$(Ea accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person) $ANY AUTO
ALL OWNED SCHEDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS AUTOS

HIRED AUTOS
NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE $AUTOS (Per accident)

$

OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE $

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

DED RETENTION $ $
WC STATU- OTH-

TORY LIMITS ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

Y / N
N / A

(Mandatory in NH)

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

© 1988-2010 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORDACORD 25 (2010/05)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE



19 
 

 
  



20 
 

EXHIBIT D 
ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING AFFIDAVIT 

 

 
 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 12 



RESOLUTION 2026-03 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING AND REMOVING OFFICERS OF THE DISTRICT AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit of special-
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors desires to appoint and remove Officers of the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

SECTION 1. The following are appointed as Officers of the District effective 12:00 a.m. on 
November 17,  2025: 

George Flint is appointed Secretary; 

Jill Burns is appointed as Treasurer; 

Jeremy LeBrun is appointed as Assistant Secretary; 

Katie Costa is appointed as Assistant Treasurer; 

Alison Mossing is appointed as Assistant Treasurer; and 

Darrin Mossing, Sr. is appointed as Assistant Treasurer. 

SECTION 2. As of 11:59 p.m. on November 16, 2025, any Officer who is a past or present 
employee of Vesta Property Management or Vesta District Services, Inc. is removed without further action 
of the Board.  

SECTION 3. This Resolution supersedes any prior appointments made by the Board for 
Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and Assistant Treasurers, with the exception that current 
Board members who are not the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson shall remain Assistant Secretaries. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 



 
 SECTION 5.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain in effect unless 
rescinded or repealed. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 27TH DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 
 
ATTEST: RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chair / Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 13 



RESOLUTION 2026-04 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DIRECTING THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO REMOVE AND 
APPOINT SIGNORS ON THE BANK ACCOUNT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors desires to remove prior authorized signatories of 
the local bank account for the District and appoint the Secretary and Treasurer as signors on the account. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

1. DESIGNATING AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES.  The District Manager is directed to update
the records of the local bank account at ___________________________________________________ 
for the District.  Secretary and Treasurer shall be appointed as signors on the account. 

2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain in
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th day of October, 2025. 

ATTEST:  

_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 14 



1 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING THE PRIMARY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE AND 
PRINCIPAL HEADQUARTERS OF THE DISTRICT AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to designate its primary administrative office as the location where 
the District’s public records are routinely created, sent, received, maintained, and requested, for the 
purposes of prominently posting the contact information of the District’s Record’s Custodian in order to 
provide citizens with the ability to access the District’s records and ensure that the public is informed of the 
activities of the District in accordance with Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the District additionally desires to specify the location of the District’s principal 
headquarters for the purpose of establishing proper venue under the common law home venue privilege 
applicable to the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

1. PRIMARY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE.  The District’s primary administrative office for
purposes of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, shall be located at the offices of primary administrative office for 
purposes of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, shall be located at c/o Governmental Management Services-
Central Florida, LLC, 219 East Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801. 

2. PRINCIPAL HEADQUARTERS.  The District’s principal headquarters for purposes of
establishing proper venue shall be located at the offices of Governmental Management Services at 393 Palm 
Coast Pkwy SW, #4, Palm Coast, FL 32137, and within Flagler County, Florida. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th day of October, 2025. 

ATTEST:  

_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 15 



RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ADOPTING AN AMENDED ANNUAL MEETING SCHEDULE FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Radiance Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit of special-
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within Flagler County, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District is required by Section 189.015, Florida Statutes, to file quarterly, semi-
annually, or annually a schedule (including date, time, and location) of its regular meetings with local 
governing authorities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, further, in accordance with the above-referenced statute, the District shall also publish 
quarterly, semi-annually, or annually the District’s regular meeting schedule in a newspaper of general 
paid circulation in the county in which the District is located; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend its adopted annual meeting schedule for the fiscal year 
beginning October 1, 2025, and ending September 30, 2026 (“Fiscal Year 2025-2026”), attached as Exhibit 
A. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE RADIANCE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1. The Amended Fiscal Year 2025-2026 annual meeting schedule attached hereto 

and incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A is hereby approved and shall be published in 
accordance with the requirements of Florida law and also provided to applicable governing authorities.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th day of October, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:  RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary     Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

Exhibit A:  Amended Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Annual Meeting Schedule 



Exhibit A 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING DATES 
RADIANCE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026 
(AMENDED) 

 
The Board of Supervisors of the Radiance Community Development District will hold their regular 
meetings for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 at the Hilton Garden Inn Palm Coast/Town Center, 55 Town Center 
Blvd., Palm Coast, Florida 32164 at 12:30 p.m., or as shortly thereafter as reasonably possible, as follows: 
 

November 21, 2025 
December 19, 2025 

January 16, 2026 
February 20, 2026 

March 20, 2026 
April 17, 2026 
May 15, 2026 
June 19, 2026 
July 17, 2026 

August 21, 2026 
September 18, 2026 

 
The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida 
Law for Community Development Districts. The meetings may be continued to a date, time, and place to 
be specified on the record at the meeting. A copy of the agenda for these meetings may be obtained from 
Governmental Management Services, 219 East Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 or by calling 
(407) 841-5524 (“District Office”). 
 
There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors or staff will participate by telephone. Pursuant to 
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations at this 
meeting because of a disability or physical impairment should contact the District Office at (813) 933-5571 
at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida 
Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the 
District Office.  
 
A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting with respect to any matter considered 
at the meeting is advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the 
person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony 
and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 


	1. Cover & Letter
	2. Agenda Pg. 1
	3. EXHIBIT 01
	4. EXHIBIT 01 - Consent Agenda - August Mins.

	5. EXHIBIT 02
	6. EXHIBIT 02 - Consent Agenda - September Financials
	Cover
	Bal Sht
	GF
	DS
	A&C
	CPF
	Bank Recon
	Check Register


	7. EXHIBIT 03
	8. EXHIBIT 03 - Consent Agenda - Southern COs
	Change Order #7 (Southern) - Radiance
	New Bookmark

	Change Order #10 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #11 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #12 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #13 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #14 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #15 (Southern) - Radiance
	Change Order #16 (Southern) - Radiance


	9. EXHIBIT 04
	10. EXHIBIT 04 - Consent Agenda - Hazen Construction, LLC Addendum - Phase 1 Utility
	Contractor Agreement
	Addendum to Contractor Agreement


	11. EXHIBIT 05
	12. EXHIBIT 05 - Consent Agenda - Requisition Phase 1 Earthwork & Clearing
	Requisition #
	Wire Instructions
	Acquisition Certificate (Ph 1 Earthwork & Clearing, Pay App 1-3)
	Bill of Sale (Ph 1 Earthwork & Clearing, Pay App 1-3)
	Pay App 1, Ph 1 Earthwork & Clearing
	Pay App 2, Ph 1 Earthwork & Clearing
	Pay App 3, Ph 1 Earthwork & Clearing


	13. EXHIBIT 06
	14. EXHIBIT 06 - Consent Agenda - TLC Land Consulting, LLC Agreement

	15. EXHIBIT 07
	16. EXHIBIT 07 - Consent Agenda - Hazen Construction, LLC Addendum - Cresswind Phase 1
	Contractor Agreement
	Addendum to Contractor Agreement


	17. EXHIBIT 08
	18. EXHIBIT 08 - Consent Agenda - Bulow City & CDD First Amendment to Settlement Agreement

	19. EXHIBIT 09
	20. EXHIBIT 09 - Consent Agenda - Amended Offsite Uility Easement

	2. Agenda Pg. 2
	21. EXHIBIT 10
	22. EXHIBIT 10 - Business Items - Res. 2026-01- Ratifying Sale of Bonds and Levy of Assessments, Series 2025

	23. EXHIBIT 11
	24. EXHIBIT 11 - Business Items - Res. 2026-02 - Designating District Manager
	Agreement for the Radiance CDD - GMS District Management Services - GMS-CF - 2025-11-17
	Res. 2026-02 - Appointing District Manager


	25. EXHIBIT 12
	26. EXHIBIT 12 - Business Items - Res. 2026-03 - Redesignating Officers

	27. EXHIBIT 13
	28. EXHIBIT 13 - Business Items - Res. 2026-04 - Designating Authorized Signatories

	29. EXHIBIT 14
	30. EXHIBIT 14 - Business Items - Res. 2026-05 - Designating Administrative Office

	31. EXHIBIT 15
	32. EXHIBIT 15 - Business Items - Res. 2026-06 - Adopting Amended Meeting Schedule


	rta: 


